VERSUS

CASE NO.

2008

01738

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT DATED SEPTEMBER 26, 2008

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

KELLY L. WRIGHT c/o Nathaleen Farmer 7 Rob Lane Jackson, MS 39212 601-918-6485

STATEMENT OF THE APPLICABLE LAW

The Public Employees Retirement System (herein PERS) is a state agency which provides retirement and disability income to state employees. Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113 (Rev.2003). Miss. Code Ann. Section 25-11-113(1)(a) provides the legal requirement for a finding of disability in this case. It states as follows:

Upon the application of a member or his employer, any active member in State service who has at least four (4) years of membership service credit may be retired by the board of trustees...provided that the medical board, after an evaluation of medical evidence that may or may not include an actual physical examination by the medical board, shall certify that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that....such incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that the member should be retired: however, the board of trustees may accept a disability medical determination from the Social Security Administration in lieu of a certification from the medical board.

PERS must apply the following statutory definition of disability in making its disability determination.

For the purposes of disability determination, the medical board shall apply the following definition of disability: the inability to perform the usual duties of employment or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any, as the employer, in its discretion, may assign without material reduction in compensation, or the incapacity to perform the duties of any employment covered by [PERS] that is actually offered and is within the same general territorial work area, without material reduction in compensation. Id.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Uniform Rules of Circuit Court Practice, Rule 5.03, limits review by this Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence: or (2) was arbitrary of capricious; or (3) was beyond the agency's scope or powers: or (4) violative of the constitutional or statutory rights of the aggrieved party. *Doyle v. Public Employees Retirement System*, 808 So.2d 902(Miss. 2002); *Howard v. PERS*, 2007 MSCA 2005-CC-02186-05107; *Mississippi State Bd. Of Public Accountancy v. Gray*, 674 So.2d 1251, 1253 (Miss. 1996)(citing *Sprouse v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n*, 639 So.2d 901, 902 (Miss. 1994).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that appellate courts may not reweigh the facts of the case or substitute its own judgment for that of the agency.

Public Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000).

However, the Supreme Court has held that it is within this Court's power to reverse a PERS decision if that decision was not supported by substantial evidence and that "Substantial evidence means something more than a 'mere scintilla' or suspicion."

Marquez at 425. Substantial evidence has been defined as "such evidence as reasonable minds might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Delta CMI v.

and capricious." *Marquez* at 430. "An administrative agency's decision is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone." *Marquez* at 430 (Miss. 2000). "An action is capricious if done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." *Id*.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Ms. Kelly Wright is 46 years old and was employed by the Mississippi Department of Health as a Registered Nurse II at the Hinds County Health Department. V. II, p. 369. She earned 5.25 years of service credit and applied under the provisions of Miss. Code Ann. Sect. 25-11-113 for non-duty related disability retirement. V. II, p.368. Her claim was denied by the PERS Medical Board and she appealed to the Disability Appeals Committee. Id.

On June 8, 2000, Kelly began to experience symptoms of heart attack, such as chest pain, shortness of breath, and fear of dying. V. II, p. 273. These symptoms began while she was at work at the Mississippi Department of Health and continued after work. Id. She believed she was having a heart attack. Id. Kelly's mother, Ms. Nathaleen Farmer, took her to MEA Clinic that same day, June 8, 2000, Id., and then to Mississippi Baptist Medical Center on June 9, 2000, for evaluation of chest pain. V. II, p. 275. Prior to this, Kelly had experienced two or three months of feeling so tired and fatigued that she could not get up in the mornings. V. II, p. 273. On June 12, 2000, Dr. Frank Covington, a psychiatrist, treated Kelly for dizziness,

Covington that her job was very stressful. ld. At this time, he prescribed 50 mg of Zoloft along with Ativan to be taken two to three times a day for anxiety. V. II, p. 425. Dr. Covington diagnosed her with Panic Disorder with agoraphobia at the time of this examination. V. II, p. 424. After three weeks Kelly was able to return to work. V. II, p. 275. Dr. Covington treated Kelly again June 19, 2000; June 27, 2000; Aug. 7, 2000; Nov. 6, 2000; and on Feb. 5, 2001(V. II, pp. 415-419) for follow-up. Because of extreme anxiety, Kelly was unable to perform the everyday functions of life and soon sold her home and moved in with her mother. V. II, p. 276 and 384. Kelly was able to continue working through September, 2002, due to her mother's help with childcare, cooking, cleaning, shopping and other necessary duties. V. II, p. 276. After Dr. Covington moved out of state, Kelly began seeing Dr. Andrew Bishop, a psychiatrist, on July 16, 2001, and reported to him that she was on the verge of a panic attack with feelings of depression as well as anxiousness. V. II, p. 409. Dr. Bishop diagnosed Adjustment Disorder with anxious features and increased her Zoloft to 100 mg and continued daily Ativan. V. II, p. 412-3. Kelly saw Dr. Bishop again on Aug. 6, 2001; Sept. 5, 2001; and Nov. 9, 2001. V. II, p. 406-408. When Kelly filed a Worker's Compensation claim Dr. Bishop dismissed her as a patient because he did not handle such claims. Her claim was denied and she did not appeal. V. II, p. 282.

Kelly then sought treatment from Dr. Krishan K. Gupta, a psychiatrist, beginning Jan. 17, 2002. V. II, p. 346. In his initial evaluation he noted that she had come for "continuation of management of panic disorder," and that she had

diagnosed Panic Disorder and needed more study to rule out Anxiety Disorder and Depressive Disorder NOS, also noting she might benefit from supportive and cognitive behavior therapy. V. II, p. 347.

Office visits were repeated with Dr. Gupta on Feb. 13, 2002, March 20, 2002, May 9, 2002, June 18, 2002, Aug. 27, 2002, Sept. 24, 2002, Oct. 4, 2002, Oct. 22, 2002, Oct. 29, 2002, Nov. 26, 2002, Jan. 2, 2003, Feb. 4, 2003, March 4, 2003, March 27,2003, and April 3, 2003, all with documented office visit notes. V. II, pp. 328-347. On Oct. 22, 2002, Kelly met with a licensed social worker at Dr. Gupta's office and completed an assessment which revealed a family history of depression and schizophrenia. V. II, p. 336, By this date, Dr. Gupta had once again doubled the Zoloft dosage to 200 mg, and had continued the Ativan daily as needed. Id. On Sept. 5, 2002, Dr. Gupta, wrote that Kelly's diagnosis was Panic Disorder and Depressive Disorder NOS, and he stated that "She is not able to work in a regular employment due to stress at work. At present, she is totally and seems to be permanently disabled due to the above diagnoses." V. II, p. 401. As her attending physician, Dr. Gupta completed a Certification for Family Medical Leave Act, stating that she has panic attacks which lead to depression, she was unable to perform her work, the condition began in June 2000, and the duration was "life long (most probably)", with prescription medication and psychotherapy provided under a regimen of continuing treatment required under his supervision. V. II, p. 403-404. On March 6, 2003, Dr. Gupta completed a Physician Statement for Aetna stating that

being treated with Prozac and Ativan, as well as psychotherapy. V. II, p. 322-3.

On Oct. 10, 2002, Kelly was diagnosed with fibromyalgia after extensive lab work by Dr. James K. Hensarling, a rheumatologist, who prescribed Vioxx initially, and later, Klonopin and Mobic. V. II, p. 349-356 and 316. On Jan. 21, 2003, Kelly was notified that she was found to be permanently and totally disabled by the Social Security Administration, retroactive to Sept. 13, 2002. V. II, p. 387. On April 21, 2003, she was notified by Aetna that she had been found to be totally and permanently disabled and now qualified for long term disability benefits. V. II, p. 319.

On January 16, 2003, PERS sent Kelly to a Medical Evaluation with Dr. Edward Manning, a psychologist of their choice. V. II, p. 389-394. The PERS referral letter, gave Dr. Manning an erroneous standard of disability, stating that disability is defined as incapacity that "must be permanent and total. The determination of disability must be based on objective medical evidence."

The above listed definition, which created a higher standard for a finding of disability, was relied upon by Dr. Manning, rather than the statutory definition, thereby making it more likely that Dr. Manning would have found Ms. Wright disabled under the statutory definition, had it been applied. Instead, he reported that different treatment might "possibly give her a better opportunity to return to work" V. II, p. 135.

A copy of Dr. Manning's letter is attached hereto as Exhibit "1". Said letter was erroneously omitted by PERS from the current record, in spite of assurances at the hearing on June 8, 2007, that all evidence from the first hearing record would be included. See statement of the PERS attorney, Margaret Bowers regarding "introduction of everything." V. I, p. 51, lines 19 - 21.

psychomotor retardation. . . symptoms of suspiciousness . . . features of social phobia . . . features of dysthemic disorder . . . possibility exists for episodic exacerbation and/or experience of major depressive disorder." After noting the diagnoses of Dr. Gupta, Dr. Manning stated that Ms. Wright's "self report and general clinical interview, participation in a structured clinical interview and completion of a series of personality measures are certainly all consistent with the above noted diagnoses." V. II, p. 394.

On May 19, 2003, a hearing was held at which the Kelly's mother testified on her behalf. V. II, p. 264. Kelly was unable to testify at the hearing due to fearful anxiety that another panic attack would be induced if she attended. V. I, p. 55.

Ms. Wright disputed certain statements in Dr. Manning's report and PERS permitted her to enter them into the record when the first hearing was held on May 19, 2003. V. II, p. 264. At the conclusion of the hearing, PERS adjourned until August 4, 2003, when it reopened the hearing file to admit a new consulting report from Dr. Mark Webb, a psychiatrist, who had examined Ms. Webb at their request on July 14, 2003. V. II, p. 121-125. Ms. Wright was denied an opportunity to attend the resumption of the hearing or to challenge the opinion of the new consultant.

Dr. Webb's single visit with Ms. Wright led him to conclude that she "does suffer with panic disorder but is in full remission with Prozac and Ativan and she is doing quite well. V. II, p. 125. Dr. Webb did not have all of the medical records available to him and the definition of disability he was given by PERS was not

PERS ruled that Ms. Wright was not disabled and filed its analysis and conclusions on the same day as the resumption of the hearing, Aug. 4, 2003. V. II, p.251. Ms. Wright appealed, and on Sept. 14, 2005, the Circuit Court reversed the PERS decision, finding there was no substantial evidence to support their decision. PERS then appealed and on Feb. 13, 2007, the Court of Appeals reversed and remanded the case to allow Ms. Wright to challenge the opinion of Dr. Webb and to "provide supplemental evidence from her treating physicians." V. II, p. 242. Ms. Wright did this through her counsel at a second hearing held on June 8, 2007, with her mother once again speaking for her. V. I, p. 45. The DAC recommended on the same day that disability benefits be denied, V. I, p. 16, and that decision was adopted by the Board of Trustees on Aug. 28, 2007. V. I, p. 15.

The evidence which the Court of Appeals had specifically authorized for the second hearing consisted of eight new documents of Ms. Wright's continuing disability and no new evidence of contradiction. V. II, p. 117. Most significant were the treatment records of Dr. Gupta and Dr. Hensarling, culminating in new statements of disability, with each reporting five years of continuous treatment of Panic Disorder, Depressive Disorder NOS and fibromyalgia with chronic pain. V. II, p. 148; V. II, p. 210.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

The Substantial Evidence Test is a technical, legal definition to be applied by an appellate court to the body of evidence submitted as support for the decision of

application for non-duty related disability by PERS was not based on substantial evidence, and thus was arbitrary and capricious. Judge Kidd's opinion and order awarded benefits to Ms. Wright. *PERS v. Kelly Wright*, 949 So.2d 839, 842 (Ms.Ct.App. 2007).

11.

After remand by the Court of Appeals to correct due process violations and to permit new evidence of Ms. Wright's disability to be submitted, *PERS v. Kelly Wright*, 949 So.2d 839, 844 (Ms.Ct.App. 2007), the new evidence was not contradicted nor was new evidence presented by PERS to support its continuing decision to deny benefits. Instead, PERS simply continued to dispute the same evidence of disability as well as compelling new evidence from treating physicians, and once again PERS denied that Ms. Wright's condition was disabling.

Having failed to present new evidence PERS has now waived its opportunity to challenge the original finding of Judge Kidd and the Doctrine of the Law of the Case forecloses re-litigation of that issue, requiring adherence to Judge Kidd's opinion and order that PERS' denial of benefits to Ms. Wright was not based on substantial evidence. Id. at 842 and V-II, pages 251-255.

On June 8, 2007, a second hearing was held by the Disability Appeals

Committee pursuant to the Court of Appeals remand. Additional evidence was
received from Kelly Wright's mother, Ms. Nathaleen N. Farmer, as well as the
medical records of continuing treatment by Ms. Wright's psychiatrist, Dr. Gupta (V.

11 counseling sessions with a social worker) and her rheumatologist, Dr. James

Kenneth Hensarling (V.11.p.210-241) (treatment records for fibromyalgia include

two opinion letters of disability and 15 office visit treatments with four visits noting
the classic trigger point pattern of fibromyalgia.

The additional evidence was unchallenged and it clearly supported Ms. Wright's claim that she has been disabled since leaving work and that her disability was continuing. The new evidence of numerous medication changes and psychotherapy sessions fully contradicted the report of Dr. Webb, on which PERS conclusions were based. With the report of Dr. Webb discredited from new evidence and also evidence that was already in the Record, PERS' denial of benefits had no substantial evidence upon which to rely.

111.

PERS applied a narrower definition of disability in this case than is permitted by statute. Instead of mental or physicial incapacity for the "further performance of duty", that is "likely to be permanent", PERS has chosen to substitute "must be permanent and total" disability. See Exhibits 1 and 2 attached hereto, letters to Dr. Manning and Dr. Webb in which PERS used their erroneous definition when soliciting the opinions of Dr. Manning and Dr. Webb. The more flexible definition of the statute recognizes that "the inability to perform the usual duties of employment, or the incapacity to perform such lesser duties, if any ..." is the true statutory definition and requirement for the receipt of disability benefits, authorized by the legislature without

would have led conclusively to a finding of disability for Ms. Wright.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER THE DOCTRINE OF THE LAW OF THE CASE REQUIRES
STRICT ADHERENCE TO JUDGE KIDD'S DECISION.

The Honorable Winston L. Kidd, Circuit Court Judge, ruled previously that PERS failed to provide substantial evidence to support its decision that Ms. Wright was not disabled. PERS v. Kelly Wright, 949 So.2d 839, 844 (Ms.Ct.App. 2007) (Emphasis added) and V. II, p. 251-255. The Mississippi Court of Appeals held that "Because Wright suffered a violation of her Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment right to procedural due process, this Court reverses the finding of the circuit court and remands the case to PERS' Disability Appeals Committee." Wright at 844. The Court of Appeals found a constitutional violation and did not find fault with Judge Kidd's ruling on the existing evidence. That rule of law is now binding on PERS because of its failure to introduce additional evidence of non-disability at the remand hearing. With no additional evidence from PERS to consider, the prior ruling remains unchallenged, uncontradicted and becomes the law of the case.

The doctrine provides that "whatever is once established as the controlling legal rule of decision, between the same parties in the same case, continues to be the law of the case, as long as there is a similarity of facts." *Mauck v. Columbus Hotel Co.*, 741 So.2d 259, 266-67 (Miss. 1999). The doctrine is not a principle of substantive law but a good rule of practice. *Goldsby v. State*, 123 So.2d 429 (Miss.

process violations regarding PERS' denying Ms. Wright the opportunity to submit new treatment records and to contest the opinion of Dr. Webb, a medical examiner hired by PERS after the conclusion of the first hearing. The Court of Appeals decision did not disturb the legal rulings of Judge Kidd on substantial evidence and arbitrary and capricious decision making. Judge Kidd reversed the first PERS denial of disability and found that:

"... it is clear from the record that Ms. Wright continues to struggle with her medical condition despite countless treatment. Claimant submitted a sufficient showing that she is no longer able to perform her job. Conversely, PERS' finding was not based on substantial evidence. The Disability Appeals Board did not consider or disregarded the medical documentation available. The nursing profession is critical to the safety and well-being of the citizens of this State and Claimant's incapacity could endanger her life and the lives of her patients.

The Court having made an objective review of the record finds that PERS' decision was not supported by substantial evidence and was therefore arbitrary and capricious."

(V. II, p. 254)

The Supreme Court has held that when the PERS decision is not supported by substantial evidence, the deference paid to an agency decision is rebutted.

PERS v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421, 425 (Miss. 2000).

Substantial evidence is defined as "that which provides an adequate basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred." *PERS v. Dishmon*, 797 So.2d at 892 (Miss. 2001). The application of the legal definition of the substantial evidence requirement then is a legal rule of the prior decision, not a factual ruling,

challenged.

Here, as in *PERS v. Freeman*, 868 So.2d 327 (Miss. 2004), the Law of the Case Doctrine proscribes any further litigation on Judge Kidd's ruling that PERS' decision was not supported by substantial evidence and is arbitrary and capricious. The doctrine was described in *Freeman* at page 330:

The doctrine of the law of the case is similar to former adjudication, relates entirely to questions of law, and is confined in its operation to subsequent proceedings in the case. Whatever is once established as the controlling legal rule of decision, between the same parties in the same case, continues to be the law of the case, so long as there is a similarity of facts. This principle expresses the practice of court generally to refuse to reopen what has previously been decided. It is founded on public policy and the interests of orderly and consistent judicial procedure.

ld.

We have acknowledged elsewhere that the Circuit Court cannot re-weigh the evidence or substitute its fact finding for that of the agency. The duty of the Court, however, is to apply the law to the facts found by the agency, and reverse the agency decision if it does not meet its legal burden requiring there to be substantial evidence. Such a finding then leads to the legal conclusion that the decision was arbitrary and capricious as explained herein above.

The Doctrine of the Law of the Case would not have applied, had PERS availed itself of its several opportunities after remand to introduce additional evidence to support its decision. It did not do so, however, knowing that it had the right to do so, and having voluntarily surrendered or relinquished those

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