IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

KELLY WRIGHT

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO. 2008-SA-01738

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF MISSISSIPPI (PERS)

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Mary Margaret Bowers Special Assistant Attorney General Public Employees' Retirement System 429 Mississippi Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201-1005 Telephone: (601) 359-3592

(601) 359-3680

Fax. No. (601) 359-2285

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

Section 25-11-113 further provides that:

... in no event shall the disability retirement allowance begin before the termination of state service, provided that the medical board, after an evaluation of medical evidence that may or may not include an actual physical examination by the medical board, certifies that the member is mentally or physically incapacitated for the further performance of duty, that the incapacity is likely to be permanent, and that member should be retired . . .

The question before the PERS Disability Appeals Committee and the PERS Board of Trustees at both hearings was whether Ms. Wright's claim meets the statutory requirement for the receipt of a regular disability benefit.

The PERS Board of Trustees, following hearing on remand, concluded that the recommendation of the Disability Appeals Committee denying regular disability benefits should be adopted as the decision of the Board.

The decision of the Board was upheld by the Opinion and Order of the Circuit Court entered September 26, 2008.

STANDARD REVIEW

Rule 5.03 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit Court Practice limits review by the Circuit Court to a determination of whether the Board of Trustees' decision was: (1) supported by substantial evidence; or (2) was arbitrary or capricious; or (3) was beyond the authority of the Board to make; or (4) violated a statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Wright. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dean, 983 So. 2d 335, 339 (Miss. App 2008.); Case v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 973 So.2d 301, 310 (Miss. App. 2008); Bakefield v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 940 So.2d 945, 948 (Miss. App. 2006); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d 1279, 1284 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d 664, 673 (Miss. 2005); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So. 2d 348, 351 (Miss. App. 2004); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003); Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d 888, 891 (Miss. 2001); Byrd v. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 774 So. 2d

434, 437(Miss. 2000); Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d 258, 259 (Miss. 1998)

In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d 891 this Court stated that there is a rebuttable presumption in favor of a PERS ruling. Also see: Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d at 259. Further, a reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the agency rendering the decision and may not reweigh the facts. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1285; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Smith, 880 So. 2d at 351; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891 (Miss. 2001); United Cement Company v. Safe Air for the Environment, 558 So. 2d 840, 842 (Miss. 1990); Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 546 So. 2d 972, 974 (Miss. 1989) Also see: Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt, 919 So. 2d 1150, 1156 (Miss. App. 2005.) In Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Mississippi-Alabama State Fair, 222 So. 2d 664, 665 (Miss. 1969), this Court stated:

Our Constitution does not permit the judiciary of this state to retry de novo matters on appeal from administrative agencies and are not permitted to make administrative decisions and perform the functions of an administrative agency. Administrative agencies must perform the functions required of them by law. When an administrative agency has performed its function, and has made the determination and entered the order required of it, the parties may then appeal to the judicial tribunal designated to hear the appeal. The appeal is a limited one, however, since the courts cannot enter the field of the administrative agency.

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So. 2d 605, 609 (Miss. App., 2003) the Mississippi Court of Appeals noted: "[I]n administrative matters, the

Employees' Retirement System, 973 So. 2d 301,310 (Miss. App. 2008). In this case there are medical tests and evaluations that Ms. Wright has undergone. Several different physicians have reviewed the reports in the file and those introduced upon hearing following remand. The reviewing physicians have the medical training to read and assess those documents. The Court in Cobb went on to state: "That fact finding duty includes assessing the credibility of witnesses and determining the proper weight to give to a particular witness's testimony." On review by an appellate court it:

is obligated to afford such determinations of credibility in the factfinding process *substantial deference* when reviewing an administrative determination on appeal and the court exceeds its authority when it proceeds to re-evaluate the evidence and makes its own determination of the trustworthiness of some particular testimony. (*Emphasis added*) 839 So. 2d 609

In this case, the Disability Appeals Committee in a twenty (20) page Recommendation noted the inconsistencies between the various medical reports Ms. Wright offered to support her claim. (Vol. 2, P. 20-21) In *Public Employees'* Retirement System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1287, this Court reiterated that "it is for PERS, as the fact finder, to determine which evidence is more believable or carries the most weight." The findings of fact by the PERS Board of Trustees must not be disturbed on appeal "where sustained by substantial evidence." City of Meridian v. Davidson, 211 Miss. 683, 53 So. 2d 48, 57 (1951); Harris v. Canton Separate Public School Board of Education, 655 So. 2d 898 (Miss. 1995) As stated by the Court in Davidson "[t]he underlying and salient reasons for this safe and sane rule need not be repeated here." 53 So. 2d at 57. Moreover, a rebuttable presumption exists in favor of PERS' decision, and the burden of proving to the contrary is on Ms. Wright Public Employees' Retirement

System v. Howard, 905 So. 2d at 1284; Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon, 797 So. 2d at 891 (Miss. 2001); Brinston v. Public Employees' Retirement System, 706 So. 2d at 259; Mississippi State Board of Accountancy v. Gray, 674 So. 2d 1251, 1257 (Miss. 1996); Mississippi Commission on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Board of Supervisors, 621 So. 2d 1211, 1215 (Miss. 1993) Also see: Mississippi Hospital Association v. Heckler, 701 F. 2d 511, 516 (5th Cir. 1983). In Gray, this Court held:

A reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case. Chancery and Circuit Courts are held to the same standard as this Court when reviewing agency decisions. When we find the lower court has exceeded its authority in overturning an agency decision we will reverse and reinstate the decision. 674 So. 2d at 1253

Also see Public Employees Retirement System v. Stamps, 898 So. 2d at 673.

In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So. 2d at 893, this Court stated that "the applicant for disability has the burden of providing to the Medical Board and to the Appeals Committee that he or she is in fact disabled." *In Public Employees' Retirement System v. Henderson*, 867 So. 2d 262, 264 (Miss. App. 2003), the Court citing *Doyle v. Public Employees' Retirement System*, 808 So. 2d 902, 905 (Miss. 2002) noted: "It is not this courts job to determine whether the claimant has presented enough evidence to prove she is disabled, but whether PERS has presented enough evidence to support its finding that the claimant is not disabled." Also See: *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Burt*, 919 So. 2d at 1156. The Disability Appeals Board considered the medical documentation available and gave consideration to Ms. Farmer's corrections to the reports of Drs. Manning and Webb. The Disability Appeals Committee provides a very comprehensive analysis of the medical

documentation in the record where it clearly explains why it arrived at the recommendation that Ms. Wright is not entitled to disability benefits.

The Order of the PERS Board of Trustees was supported by substantial evidence, was neither arbitrary nor capricious nor violated any statutory or constitutional right of Ms. Wright and, thus, was properly affirmed by the Circuit Court.

I.

THE DOCTRINE OF THE LAW OF THE CASE DOES NOT REQUIRE STRICT ADHERENCE TO JUDGE KIDD'S DECISION.

The Doctrine of the Law of the Case does not apply in this matter. Although on the first appeal to Circuit Court, Judge Kidd, ruled that the decision of PERS was not supported by substantial evidence, that decision was appealed to the Supreme Court and assigned to the Court of Appeals. PERS argued that the Circuit Court reweighed the evidence and substituted its judgment for that of the administrative body charged with making the determination of disability. The Court of Appeals reversed the finding of the Circuit Court and remanded the case to the Disability Appeals Committee to provide Ms. Wright the opportunity to refute the report of Dr. Webb and to provide supplemental evidence from her treating physicians. The Court of Appeals reversed the Circuit Court's decision not in part but totally.

In *Mauck v. Columbus Hotel Company*, 741 So. 2d 259 (Miss. 1999), cited by the Appellant, the Court, determining that the Doctrine of the Law of the Case did not apply and citing from *Goldsby v. State*, 240 Miss. 647, 664, 123 So. 2d 259 (Miss. 1960) stated:

The doctrine is not a principle of substantive law but a good rule of practice and "'...is of special significance as applied to questions of law as distinguished from decisions on questions of fact.'"

The Doctrine does not apply as the Court of Appeals did not determine the issue as to whether there was substantial evidence to support the decision of PERS, but, rather held that Ms. Wright's right to due process was violated. The case was reversed and remanded to PERS to secure additional facts that were not allowed to be offered during Ms. Wright's first hearing, primarily being able to refute the evaluation of Dr. Webb.

Although Ms. Wright argues that the Court of Appeals did not disturb the legal rulings of Judge Kidd, his ruling was before the Court on appeal. PERS argued that the Circuit Court in the first decision reweighed the evidence substituting its decision for that of the administrative agency. The case was remanded for the specific purpose of allowing Ms. Wright the opportunity to introduce additional factual documentation. In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Freeman*, 868 So. 2d 327 (Miss. 2004) this Court noted that there are exceptions to the law of the case doctrine. The Court said "These exceptions include 'material changes in evidence, pleadings or findings". citing *Moeller v. Am. Guaranteed & Liab. Inc. Co.*, 812 So. 2d 953 (Miss. 2002).

The Circuit Court in its Order entered September 26, 2008, held that Ms. Wright introduced new evidence at the second hearing before the Disability Appeals refuting Dr. Webb's opinion, introducing new medical records and therefore "the Doctrine does not apply". (Vol. 1, P. 5) Ms. Farmer, who appeared on behalf of Ms. Wright at the hearing, presented what is a material change in the evidence. She was allowed to offer testimony and introduce the report of Dr. Webb to which she added her comments to statements he made that she felt were in error or false.

Ms. Wright contends that PERS had the opportunity to provide additional evidence to prove that Ms. Wright was not disabled. In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Dishmon*, 797 So. 2d at 893, this Court stated that "the applicant for disability has the burden of proving to the Medical Board and to the Appeals Committee that he or she is in fact disabled". It is and always has been the burden of the member at the administrative level to prove that he/she is disabled. It is not PERS duty to prove that the member is not disabled. In *Public Employees' Retirement System v. Cobb*, 839 So. 2d at 609-610, the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated:

The requirement of "substantial evidence" seems satisfied, however, in such instance by an appellate determination that the agency's conclusion that the claimant's evidence was so lacking or so unpersuasive that she failed to meet her burden appears a reasoned and unbiased evaluation of the evidence in the record. In that circumstance, in something of a paradox, the lack of evidence at the agency level becomes the substantial evidence on appellate review that suggests the necessity of affirming the agency's determination. [Emphasis Added]

PERS did not relinquish any of its rights. The case, as already noted, was remanded for the sole purpose of allowing Ms. Wright to refute the report of Dr. Webb and to offer additional medical documentation from her physicians. At the hearing, the record from the first hearing was introduced and considered with the additional information allowed following remand. Having reviewed all of the information, the Committee then presented an entirely new Proposed Findings of Facts, Conclusion of Law and Recommendation to the Board of Trustees for its consideration.

This action of the Court of Appeals is somewhat analogous to the action of the Court in *Dunn v. Dunn*, 695 So. 2d 1152 (Miss. 1977) wherein the Court determined that the law of the case was not entirely applicable where it had remanded a case to the lower

court to conduct a new hearing on the issue of child support. The Court noted that it did not decide the primary and controlling issue of the lower court. As here, the Court of Appeals remanded the case for a hearing before the Disability Appeals Committee and did not decide whether the lower court was in error for reversing the decision of PERS as the Court of Appeals reversed the lower court's decision in its entirety and provided the opportunity for a new hearing before the administrative body. In *Continental Turpentine* and Rosin Co. v Gulf Naval Stores Company, 244 Miss. 465, 142 So. 2d 200 (1962) this Court stated:

It is also said in 3 Am.Jur., Appeal and Error, Sec. 985, p. 541, that: 'The decisions agree that as a general rule, when an appellate court passes upon a question and **remands** the cause for further proceedings, the question there settled becomes the 'law of he cause' upon a subsequent appeal, provided the same facts and issues which were determined in the previous appeal are involved in the second appeal. But **if the facts are different**, so that the principles of law announced on the first appeal are not applicable, as where there are material changes in the evidence, pleadings, or findings, a prior decision is not conclusive upon questions presented on the subsequent appeal***

'The doctrine of the law of the case has been frequently recognized as a harsh doctrine. Some courts have expressed their intention not to extend the application of the doctrine of the law of the case beyond the cases in which it has heretofore been held to apply. And in some jurisdictions the rule of the law of the case has been abolished, or at least modified by express statutory or constitutional provisions.'

This Court said in the case of Brewer v. Browning, 115 Miss. 358, 76 So. 267, 519, L.R.A.1918F, 1185, that: "We do not think, however, that this rule (law of the case) is so fixed and binding upon the court that it may not depart from its former decision on a subsequent appeal if the former decision in its judgment after mature consideration is erroneous and wrongful and would lead to unjust results. Where the facts are the same, and where there has been no change of conditions or situations as that a change of decision would work wrong and injustice, the court may, on the subsequent appeal, correct its former decision ***.'

PERS was provided the opportunity to appeal the decision of the Circuit Court and did so. The issues raised on appeal have not been addressed as the Court found there was a due process violation. The Circuit Court's decision was reversed in its entirety and the case was remanded for a hearing. At the hearing the Court of Appeals informed the parties what documentation was to be admitted. The new evidence was admitted into evidence, testimony was taken and an entirely new Recommendation based on all of the evidence presented at the first hearing, including the evidence presented at the hearing following remand, was before the Circuit Court for a decision. The Circuit Court properly held that the law of the case doctrine does not apply.

II.

THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE DECISION OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM DENYING MS. WRIGHT'S CLAIM FOR DISABILITY IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, AND, IS THUS, NEITHER ARBITRARY NOR CAPRICIOUS.

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